1940

State of Utah v. E. B. Erwin, Harry Finch and R. O. Pearce : Brief of Appellants R. O. Pearce and Harry Finch

Utah Supreme Court

IN THE
SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF UTAH

STATE OF UTAH,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

E. B. ERWIN, HARRY FINCH and
R. O. PEARCE,

Defendants and Appellants.

CASE
NO. 6200

Brief of Appellants R. O. Pearce and Harry Finch

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

This statement will be based upon the assumption, not admitted, that the pleadings here are sufficient.

Three defendants were convicted, Mr. Erwin, former mayor, Harry Finch, former Chief of Police, and R. O. Pearce, attorney. The offense charged is that an agreement was entered into between the said three appellants and one Ben Harmon, deceased, and Frank A. Thacker, acquitted, to "allow, assist, and enable houses of ill fame, * * * lotteries, dice games, slot machines, book-making and other gambling devices and games of chance to be kept, maintained and operated at * * * Salt Lake City." * * *

This case is unique in that it does not charge an agreement between officers and operators of any of these things to operate or to protect their operation, as

has been charged in other cases coming before the courts. No one in this case was engaged in the operation of any of these things in any manner. This is an important element to be kept in mind in applying the law, as well as the testimony here. Appellants are not charged with operating nor agreeing to operate. They are not charged with an agreement to collect money nor with collecting money from any of these operations.

More important, they are not charged, either as officials or otherwise, with the offense of suffering or allowing any of these things to operate.

Assuming that it may be a crime to operate these things or a crime to permit them to be operated by persons having authority to stop them, this is not the charge. It was in this connection that there was a serious misapprehension on the part of the prosecutors and the court in this case.

A good deal of irrelevant testimony was introduced to show that these things operated, on the apparent theory that if this were shown it might be presumed that the appellants knew that they were being operated. This was irrelevant because under the law even knowledge that a conspiracy exists and is being carried out does not charge a person with guilt of participation, and secondly, as already stated, the operation or the allowance of an operation was not the offense charged here.

Incidentally, there was no evidence as to slot machines or dice games at all. It is common knowledge that prostitution, lotteries, book-making and gambling with

cards always operate in metropolitan sections to some extent. Card rooms, and some other gambling devices, were licensed here. It was established by plaintiff's evidence that these things except slot machines and dice games operated at the times alleged, and also that they had operated substantially the same before this time as well as subsequently. It appears to be conceded on all sides that gambling frequently accompanies card playing and that an officer, even though he may watch the game being played, cannot tell whether it is being played for money or for fun.

So that, while we have abolished common law conspiracies by statute and have limited the criminal ones to an agreement to commit "an act" injurious to public morals or for the perversion of justice, we have here charged an agreement not to commit "an act" but to allow, assist and enable things to operate. Which things not only customarily operate in spite of law or the ordinary, or even extraordinary efforts at law enforcement, but which clearly may and continuously do operate without any agreement whatsoever even as between officers and operators; and which obviously operate without such agreement between officers and laymen not connected with the operation of any of these things.

This brings us to two very basic propositions in this case to which we were never able to get the law applied on the trial:

(1) First, evidence that prostitution, lotteries book-making, and gambling occurred was no evidence at all of an agreement between the parties charged. Par-

ticularly is this true where the defendants were never connected with each other in any way or at any time or place in assisting or permitting anything of this kind, so that this evidence had no connection whatsoever with any relationship between the defendants. It is not a case of conspiracy to commit a crime such as to rob a bank or the commission of the crime of arson, where people meet at certain time and place, each contributing tools or equipment to commit the offense and all joining in its commission. Admittedly the bringing of tools to commit robbery or inflammable materials to commit arson and the entry into the commission of the act is evidence of a previous agreement or understanding to commit the offense. Here no substantive offense was charged. The agreement constituted the conspiracy and the offense charged.

It is true the statute required in addition that an "overt" act be alleged and proved to complete the offense. This should not be confused, however, with the agreement which was the gist of the offense. On this feature of the case it was not necessary to prove that anything was done afterward to carry out the agreement if the agreement were established. Anything that was done after to be material to this must be something that tended to prove the existence of the agreement. Under the rule of law with relation to circumstantial evidence it would not be admissible to prove the agreement unless it were consistent only with the existence of the agreement and inconsistent with every hypothesis of innocence of the agreement. Clearly, therefore, the fact that gambling did occur was no evi-

dence of an agreement between the parties charged.

(2) The second basic matter, which is related to the first, is that any insinuations of wrong doing or neglect of duty, or even evidence of such, was not only wholly immaterial but was prejudicial to the defendants, unless, again, it had the legal probative force required as proof of the agreement. Such alleged acts of irregular conduct were not admissible unless they tended to prove the existence of the agreement and were consistent only therewith, or in other words, could not have been expected to be done except as a result of the agreement alleged, between the defendants charged.

The danger of ignoring these basic propositions is that the jury from insinuations or gossip or proof of alleged irregular acts, though they were not charged and though they were not competent or material or relevant proof of the offense charged, would nevertheless feel called upon to convict. They were in effect so instructed. So that, as we see it here, what might have been expected to happen from a violation of these rules laid down as a guarantee of a fair trial, did happen and convictions resulted as a result of the introduction of evidence of irregular conduct which was not material to the charge.

Before attempting a closer clarification of the evidence and the assignments of error, some general statements of fact will be helpful.

There is no evidence here that the defendants ever met together. There is no evidence that any person

charged ever discussed the matter of permitting or aiding the operation of prostitution or gambling with any other defendant or with any other person. There is no evidence that the defendants discussed any matter relating to the things alleged to have been agreed to be aided or permitted. There is some evidence that Mr. Harmon may have talked with Mr. Finch and that Mr. Thacker did talk with Mr. Harmon on different occasions but not in relation to these matters. Mr. Harmon's place operated under a beer license and operated licensed marble games and had a licensed card room. These were operations which were checked up by Mr. Thacker not only in his place but in other places where they operated.

There is no evidence that the subject of or any agreement that prostitution or gambling be permitted or aided in operation were ever discussed between any two defendants or by any one of them with any operator. There is no evidence that Mr. Erwin knew Mr. Harmon. He did not know Mr. Finch until about the time they went into office. The evidence showed that Mr. Pearce had examined Mr. Erwin as a witness in a civil case that arose in 1934 but not as his attorney. The evidence is that he met Mr. Finch only twice, once some years previously when he lost an eye in a golf accident at Nibley Park and once while Mr. Finch was in office he applied for a licence for a client. So that the alleged conspirators, upon the record here, were only casual acquaintances or strangers. They never did any act to assist each other or to "assist or enable" any place of prostitution or gambling to operate. None of

the appellants was ever in any place where these operations were claimed to have occurred, except that Mr. Finch on one or two occasions visited certain places where it was testified gambling sometimes took place. This was in his official duties. There was no gambling at the time of such visits.

“OVERT ACTS”

Now as to “overt acts”. Our statute, as a recognized protection against abuses in prosecuting for alleged conspiracy, limits such prosecutions as stated above, and also requires separate allegation and proof of an overt act or acts. (See R. S. U. 103-11-3, also 105-32-11). The common law did not so limit or require. Such an act, if and when the conspiracy is established, may be by any conspirator shown to be connected therewith. It must, however, be in furtherance of the conspiracy, and with knowledge of the existence of the conspiracy alleged.

The matter of the sufficiency of the allegations of these is discussed elsewhere. Four things were alleged as “overt acts”: (1) That between March 15, 1936, and January 1st, 1938, defendants permitted, allowed, assisted and enabled houses of ill fame to be operated. That (2) between the same dates they did likewise with lotteries, dice games, slot machines, book-making and other games of chance. Thus it is first alleged that defendants agreed to do something very general in its nature and then it is alleged generally that they did what they agreed. We thus have in fact no “overt act” as contemplated by law or by the statute.

What we said previously as to the conspiracy applies here because these things had and would and did operate without any agreement as to their allowance or assistance, so that their operation is no proof of the conspiracy, nor is it proof of any overt act committed pursuant thereto.

Now we have (3), that on the first of each month from June, 1937, to January, 1938, defendants collected and caused to be collected "money from operators of houses of ill fame"; and (4) that at various times between April, 1936, and January, 1938, defendants collected money from operators of the same gambling games named in (2) above.

Passing over the generality of (3) and (4) as allegations of an "overt act", it may be admitted that an overt act may also be proved even though its proof tends to establish the conspiracy alleged. It may also be admitted that in certain cases, as above illustrated by the bank robbery and arson instances, an overt act may be cogent proof of an existing conspiracy. But such is not the situation here. No defendant ever collected any money from any operator of any of the things alleged. Golden Holt did, by his own evidence, collect from houses of prostitution from August, 1936, to January, 1937, and he said he gave the money to Abie Rosenblum. This was in 1936 and no defendant in this case was connected with that arrangement or that collection. Officer Holt also testified that again from June 1937 to January, 1938 he collected money from the operators of houses of prostitution and gave the money

to Ben Harmon. This appeared to be a separate arrangement and if it amounted to a conspiracy was a separate conspiracy, and a point is made of this in our assignments.

There is no testimony that any defendant collected any money and no testimony that any defendant "caused" Holt to collect any. In view of the money that he spent in automobile and motor boat operations, in living at the hotel and separately maintaining his family, and in mining stock speculation and operation, it is quite certain that he didn't give all the money collected to Rosenblum in 1936 or Harmon in 1937. In any event, he testified he collected it himself alone. There is no different testimony on this.

During the latter part of 1936 he was head of the anti-vice squad; during the latter part of 1937 he was under Mr. Thacker, who was head of the squad, and he was in charge of looking after the houses of prostitution from which he made the collections.

Upon the trial, and in an effort to make these collections overt acts of the defendants, the prosecuting attorney asserted (R. 318) that Holt was one of the conspirators. These collections by a police officer are not proof of the agreement alleged here. They are obviously typical police shakedowns of people subject to his coercion. Such collections required no agreement as alleged and constitute no proof of such. Neither did they constitute any proof of an overt act by defendants "to effect the object" of the conspiracy alleged. This is not an extortion case.

There is no evidence whatsoever that Mr. Holt was a party with the defendants or any of them to the agreement alleged. His conversations, by his own testimony, as to the collections in 1936 were with Rosenblum alone. He testified that again in about the middle of 1937 he talked with Harmon about collections and after he had made collections talked with Mr. Pearce. Harmon and Pearce were never mentioned until about June, 1937. There was nothing in any of these conversations with relation to assisting or permitting or allowing houses of prostitution to operate. They had operated for years before and still continue to operate. It certainly was no assistance to them for Holt to collect the income from their operations.

Mr. Thacker testified that although he was immediately over Holt in the 1937 period he never knew that Holt collected from the women, and Holt never claimed or testified, nor did any other witness testify, that he did. Holt, although practically admitting that he was testifying to keep his job on the police force, which he did and does keep, and indicating a willingness to deny or explain away all previous contrary statements and to testify to anything to help the State's case, never testified to any agreement as alleged here to "permit, allow, assist or enable" these things to operate, with any defendant, or at all. There was no such agreement or understanding ever intimated by or with him, and so these collections were not proof of the conspiracy alleged nor were they overt acts as required by the statute (103-11-3) "done to effect the object thereof by one or more of the parties to such agreement."

It should be mentioned in passing, since it is raised in the assignments, that Mr. Pearce and Mr. Erwin had been charged with Mr. Harmon in this matter of extorting or collecting money from houses of prostitution knowing it to be the earnings of prostitutes, and had been tried on exactly the same testimony offered here and these defendants had been acquitted of this charge.

It should be mentioned also that clearly the district attorney could not make the witness Holt a conspirator with the defendants by merely asserting that he was such. He could and did admit that he was an accomplice upon the State's theory of the case. It is our contention that his testimony was entirely without corroboration and that the trial court should have so instructed. However, he could not be made a fellow conspirator with the defendants except upon proof of the existence of the agreement alleged and his and their connection therewith.

He testified that he had been, off and on for more than five years, connected with the anti-vice squad, that such places of prostitution had operated all during that period, and to his own knowledge had operated for many years before, that the officers could not stop prostitution. If they were to put an officer in any of these houses, the girls would go somewhere else and that they could only drive them on to the streets or into the more residential sections. It was also shown that the law recognized this situation and the city ordinance gave to the City Board of Health the supervision of prostitutes, (Sec. 30, R. 444).

The only other collection of money was that by Abe Stubeck, testified to by one witness, Dar Kempner. (Ab. 40-64). It was testified by this witness that Stubeck collected some money from two pool halls "in March, possibly April", 1937. This is an alleged collection by Abe Stubeck, who was never in any way or by any testimony connected with any agreement as alleged, or at all, or with any of the defendants in any manner, or at all. The admission of this testimony is assigned as error, and of course it could not be any proof of the agreement here alleged or any proof of an overt act.

The record discloses that the defendants were not in fact tried for having agreed to allow or assist these things to operate. The trial court did not follow the rule that at least prima facie proof of the agreement should be required before the acts and statements of one alleged conspirator could be admitted as binding upon the others. The whole basis of the principle of agency in this regard was ignored.

So that in addition, as we shall contend, to the insufficiency of the evidence to prove the charge alleged and which alone the defendants were called upon to defend against, we have here a mass of irrelevant, immaterial and incompetent assertions by the prosecutor and insinuations and intimations of irregular conduct or neglect of duty and some proof of things done with and without the knowledge of defendants. All of which was not admissible as evidence or circumstances to prove the charge, but which created a confused ap-

pearance of some evil or evil conditions, arousing the jury to a feeling that for them not to convict here would be in effect an approval on their part of some or all of the things intimated, insinuated or discussed.

TESTIMONY CLASSIFIED

A general classification of the evidence offered by the state will be attempted. This may be classified under four heads, as follows:

(1) Testimony as to the operation of houses of prostitution, card games, book-making and lotteries. As to this class of testimony the court instructed (Ab. 266) in instruction 9(b):

“That the operating of gambling, prostitution, lotteries, etc., either before or after or during 1936 and 1937, in and of themselves cannot be considered by you as evidence of an agreement or conspiracy between the defendants in this case. Such conditions may or may not exist by agreement and their operation is consistent with the absence of such agreement.”

This instruction, in the absence of a cross appeal, has become the law of the case. So that it is our position that under the rule as to circumstantial evidence, as well as under the law of this case, this evidence gives no support to the state's case here.

(2) In this classification is a substantial volume of testimony admitted upon the theory that it constituted admissions by the different and individual defendants. This does not relate to the offense charged or to guilt of this offense. This testimony is made up of long

statements by Fisher Harris and other witnesses of what they had heard or discovered or found out and was admitted on the claim that they had so stated at different times to various defendants here. These were almost entirely after the conspiracy was alleged to have ended. It not only does not support the conviction here, but was erroneously admitted.

(3) This classification includes evidence of alleged wrongful acts or irregular conduct or statements involving irregular conduct of the individual defendants themselves. It also involves some evidence of knowledge on the part of the defendants that some of the operations alleged took place. It in no way relates to the agreement alleged and for the most part was erroneously admitted.

(4) In this class may be included some alleged declarations made by one defendant or a third person with reference to another defendant. This testimony is quite limited. Some of this was after the conspiracy was alleged to have ended; all of it was without any foundation showing an agreement under which the statements could have been admitted as binding upon the defendant mentioned in the statement in any case; and where made by third parties, of course, was erroneously admitted.

BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

Before discussion of the evidence and the sufficiency, it may be helpful to inform the court as to the theories here alleged and pursued.

Ses. 103-11-1 R. S. U., under which the charge is laid, says:

“ . . . if two or more persons conspire: (5) To commit an act injurious to (a) public morals, (b) for the perversion and obstruction of justice, (c) the due administration of law.”

This indictment incorporates (a), (b) and (c).

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