1940

State of Utah v. E. B. Erwin, Harry Finch and R. O. Pearce : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

reasonably inferred that the offense was committed in Salt Lake County, Utah, and you must find beyond a reasonable doubt each and every one of the following elements,"

and then sets out five subdivisions. In the first place let it be said that there was never any contention made that venue was not proven in this case. In the second place, this certainly required the proof of the elements thereafter set out to be beyond a reasonable doubt before a conviction could be had.

In Subdivision Number 4 of Instruction Number 16, the word "or" is used, but certainly from reading the instructions, it becomes clear that the jury was instructed more than once that they must find beyond a reasonable doubt that the conspiracy, as alleged in the indictment, existed. Subdivision Number 5 of Instruction Number 16 is not the only instruction given on overt acts. It merely sets forth the overt acts which were alleged and one of which must have been committed. Instructions Numbers 22 and 24 sufficiently set forth the law when coupled with Subdivision Number 5. These instructions point out that any overt acts must be done by fellow conspirators or by the defendants themselves.

Under the fourth subdivision of this point, counsel confidently relies on a misstatement contained in Instruction Number 15. Instruction Number 15 is Pearce's Request Number 4. Counsel has already assigned as error the failure to give his Request Number 4. However, it was given. Certainly, defendant Pearce can claim nothing for this misstatement. The only misstatement in Instruction Number 15 was that the witness, Stubeck, testified that he collected money. Of course, the testimony

was by Kempner that Stubeck collected it. However this instruction does not assume a fact necessary to be found. It is only a statement that Stubeck testified to a certain thing and if they believe that certain thing then they might not consider it was proof of an agreement unless certain other things were found. In

State v. Hanna, (Utah), 21 P. (2d) 537,
(1933),

the following instruction was given.

“And you are instructed in this connection, that if the evidence offered and received in this case raises in your minds a reasonable doubt as to the presence of the defendant at the place *where the offense was committed, at the time of the commission thereof*, then your verdict should be for the defendant, not guilty.”

Of course, in this instance, the court assumed that the offense had been committed and it was held reversible error. This case is in no way comparable to the slight misstatement made in Instruction Number 15.

The instruction quoted from

Holland v. State, (Texas), 206 S. W. 89,
was in effect covered in Instruction Number 22.

In the Erwin brief starting at page 64, counsel discusses certain instructions as being erroneous. He also criticizes Instruction Number 16 because it does not state that the overt acts must be done by one of the conspirators. As heretofore pointed out, Instructions Number 22 and Number 24 make this a requirement. Counsel also criticizes Instructions Number 22 and Number 24. In this Instruction Number 18 but again we refer the Court to

connection we particularly call the Court's attention to the language of Instruction Number 24 to the effect that the jury was further instructed, "in addition to all that the court has heretofore instructed you."

Instruction 9 (a) has been heretofore discussed and is not the only instruction on the subject therein contained. The jury could not convict on just one instruction and the necessity for the element of knowledge is very fully presented in Instruction Number 4 (b). Counsel criticizes Subdivision 5 (d) of Instruction Number 16 as permitting the jury to speculate as to what act might be therein included. Under this subdivision of the instructions, if a party to the conspiracy permitted, allowed, enabled and assisted a house of ill-fame to operate in violation of the State statutes and the ordinances of Salt Lake City, then the same was a sufficient overt act. As pointed out in the case of *People v. Tenorowicz*, this is such an act, and if it was committed then the verdict was justified.

Erwin's request, Instruction Number 19, seeks to exclude from the jury's consideration the testimony of Ben Hunsaker. Certainly this evidence was admissible and constitutes an admission on behalf of Erwin that he was a party to the conspiracy alleged in the complaint.

There was no error in the refusal of Request Number 22 because this sought to exclude from the consideration of the jury any evidence with relation to the conversation between Harris and Erwin. As heretofore pointed out, the statements of Erwin at this conversation were admissible to show a consciousness of guilt on his part and to prove certain statements made by Erwin, admitting his complicity in the conspiracy. If the evidence of these con-

versations was properly admitted, then certainly Instruction Number 22 was properly refused.

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Counsel for defendants insofar as the sufficiency of the evidence is concerned have taken an isolated fact and stated, this fact does not prove anything so we will disregard it. They then move on to the next fact and say the same thing and by this process eventually eliminate all the evidence in the case. After this elimination they say, there is no evidence.

On questions of the sufficiency of the evidence, cases usually stand or fall upon their own facts and circumstances. By this, counsel for the State means that after looking at the facts we must ask ourselves, "was a conspiracy proved in this case as alleged in the indictment?" To again re-argue and re-state the facts heretofore set forth would not be useful, however, it is submitted that when we consider all of this evidence together, we cannot help but come to the conclusion that all of the defendants were working together and to a common end, that is, permitting, allowing, assisting and enabling vice establishments to operate in violation of law for their own personal gain. Finch discussed the activities of Holt in opening and closing the vice establishments and also guided him to the persons who were to receive the moneys he collected. Pearce attempted to get someone to make the necessary collection and to keep the places of vice "in line," and the defendant, Erwin, admitted his participation in this conspiracy. This evidence irresistibly draws us to the conclusion that these

defendants conspired as alleged and that the overt acts as alleged were committed. In the case of

U. S. v. McKee, 26 Fed. Cas. No. 15,680
(1876) 3 Dill 551, (Circuit Ct., E. D.
Mo.),

instructions are set forth at length directing the jury as to the manner in which they are to consider the evidence. The instruction is as follows:

“When a conspiracy is shown to exist, the rule of law is that all acts done in furtherance of the conspiracy by any of the conspirators, though not in the presence of others, and all declarations made by any of the conspirators to advance the common cause, or *in connection with acts done in the promotion of the conspiracy*, though not made in the presence of the other conspirators, are evidence against all of the conspirators. One conspirator in such cases is bound by all the acts and declarations of his fellow conspirators done and made to promote the common object; but mere declarations, that is, statements of real conspirators, that some one else is a member of the conspiracy is not evidence to establish that fact. It must be established by independent evidence of the acts, conduct or admissions of the person himself, who is sought to be implicated; but if it is, by such other independent evidence, once established to the satisfaction of the jury that a person is a member of a conspiracy, then the rule above stated applies, and he is bound by the acts and declarations of his co-conspirators, done and made in furtherance of the illegal scheme, though

not made or done in his presence. This distinction is plain enough and when once clearly apprehended by the jury, not difficult of application.”

The rule in determining whether or not sufficient evidence has been produced to permit the case to go to the jury for its consideration is considered and stated in

State v. Llewellyn, 71 Ut. 331; 226 Pac. 261 (1928):

“The rule is controlled by the same principles in criminal cases as in civil procedure. And in a civil case, Stam v. Ogden P. & P. Co., 53 Ut. 248; 177 P. 218, this Court said: ‘It is familiar doctrine in this jurisdiction and perhaps in nearly every other where the jury system prevails, that, if there is any substantial evidence whatever upon which to base a verdict, the court will not withdraw the case from the jury or direct what their verdict should be.’”

The Court further states:

“Our conclusion is that upon a motion for a directed verdict of acquittal the province of the court is to consider and determine as a matter of law whether or not there is substantial evidence of the guilt of accused sufficient in law to support a conviction, and, if there is, to deny the motion and submit the case to the jury. If the court is dissatisfied with the weight and credibility of the evidence, he may afterwards, upon that ground, set aside the ver-

dict and grant a new trial, but such is no grounds for directing an acquittal."

The rule is not as indicated by counsel that the court must find the defendants guilty in his own mind. He should only determine whether there is "any substantial evidence whatever upon which to base a verdict." This is the rule which should govern this Court. In

Helton v. Commonwealth, 245 Ky. 7; 53 S. W. 89 (1932),

the defendants were charged with a conspiracy.

The Court there stated:

"A conspiracy is almost necessarily established by welding into one claim, circumstances which when considered separately are of themselves insufficient and inconclusive, but when connected and examined as a whole, are sufficient to show it.

The question whether there is a confederation or conspiracy, if there is any evidence, is in every case for the jury."

In *O'Brien v. United States*, 51 Fed. 674, (Seventh Circuit, 1931), the Court stated:

"The support which one may give to an unlawful conspiracy naturally differs. There are leading and minor roles to be played. One actor is active, another non-active. Omissions may, under certain circumstances, be tantamount to acts of commission. Guilt may in some instances be established by non doing, as well as by affirmative acts, provided the intended and actual effect of such non action is to

advance or consummate the object of the conspiracy.”

It was also pointed out by the court in this case that a defendant need not know the full extent of the conspiracy, nor the names of those participating. In

Breiner v. United States, 54 Fed. (2d)
1045 (Seventh Circuit — 1932),

the Court held that a defendant need not know all those persons participating in a conspiracy. In

Blanstein v. United States, 44 Fed. (2d)
163 (1930 — Third Circuit),

the Court stated that a conspiracy may be shown by direct and positive evidence, by declarations or writings, or by circumstantial evidence, such as show that the parties acted together or in concert, or in a manner warranting belief that their acts were the result of a previous agreement. In

Richards v. State, 43 Ohio App. 212; 183
N. E. 36 (1932),

the charge was forgery. However, a conspiracy was proved in connection therewith. The Court states that a conspiracy is usually proved by separate acts of several persons concentrating toward the same purpose and states as follows:

“ . . . the greater the secrecy that is observed relative to the object of such concurrence, and the more apparent the similarity of the means employed to effect the object, the stronger is the evidence of the conspiracy, and, where it is proved by their conduct that alleged conspirators, were pursuing the same object by the same means each performing a different part of the

act with a view to its attainment, it may be concluded that the parties were engaged in a conspiracy to effect that object, and a jury would be justified in so finding."

In *State v. Thompson*, 69 Conn. 720; 38 Atl. 868,

which is a case of conspiracy, the Court stated:

"The agreement to act in concert for the attainment of the fraudulent purpose is susceptible of proof in different ways. There may be direct evidence of the actual meeting and agreement to pursue the common object. The joint participation of all the persons charged, in the acts by which the common purpose is to be accomplished, may be shown by direct evidence. The combination may be established by proof of the admissions of each of the accused conspirators, who are parties to the action, made either during or after the accomplishment of the common purpose, proof of each admission being received in evidence only against the person making it. It may be proved by circumstantial evidence, by proof of the separate acts of the individuals, and of circumstances from which the illegal confederation may be inferred. From the nature of the offense itself, such corrupt agreement of the parties, entered into in secret, can only in exceptional cases be established in any other manner. (19 Conn. 233, 237)."

The rule as stated in

People v. Goldaher, 17 Cal. App. (2d) 195;
61 Pac. (2d) 675 (1936),

is that where the acts of the conspirators support a logical inference of conspiracy, that is sufficient.

In People v. Van Tassell, 156 N. Y. 561;
51 N. E. 274 (1898), the Court stated:

“It is well settled that where there is sufficient evidence to justify the conclusion that different persons charged with a crime were acting with a common purpose and design, although it does not appear there has been a previous combination or confederacy to commit the particular offense, yet acts and declarations of each, from the commencement to the consummation of the offense are evidence against the others. A conspiracy may be proved by circumstantial evidence, and parties performing disconnected overt acts, all contributing to the same result, may, by the circumstances and their general connection or otherwise, be satisfactorily shown to be confederators in the commission of the offense.” (cases cited)

In Garland v. State, 112 Md. 83; 75 Atl 631; 21 Ann. Cas. 28 (1910); 3 Greenleaf on Evidence, 16th Ed. 101, is quoted as follows:

“ If it be proved that the defendants pursued by their acts the same object, often by the same means, one performing one part and another another part of the same so as to complete it, with a view to the attainment of that same object, the jury

will be justified in the conclusion that they were engaged in a conspiracy to effect that object.”

We respectfully call the Court's attention to the case of

Allen v. United States, 4 Fed. (2d) 688
(Seventh Circuit, 1927).

This case is probably as close as any to the evidence introduced by the State in this case.

The case of People v. Tenorowicz, *supra*, is another case to which we respectfully call the attention of the Court. The case of

People v. Collier, 111 Cal. App. 215; 295
Pac. 898,

contains an excellent discussion as to the distinction of rules as to the weight and to the admissibility of evidence, and also as to general principles of law relating to conspiracies. An opinion on rehearing of this case is found in

People v. Shurtleff, 133 Cal. App. 739; 299
Pac. 92 (1931).

which affirms the conviction of one of the defendants whose conviction was reversed in the Collier case.

Under the rules heretofore set out, it is submitted that there is substantial evidence in this case upon which the jury could well have returned a verdict of guilty of the conspiracy as alleged in the indictment, and as pointed out in the above cases we must look at all of the evidence and not isolate the testimony of each witness or each fact.

IN ORDER TO JUSTIFY A REVERSAL THE
ERROR MUST ACTUALLY PREJUDICE
THE DEFENDANT.

Utah has a number of statutes relating to this subject.

Section 105-53-2, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, provides as follows:

“Neither a departure from the form or mode prescribed by this code in respect to any pleading or proceeding nor any error or mistake therein shall render it invalid unless it shall have actually prejudiced the defendant in respect to a substantial right.”

Section 105-43-1, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, provides as follows:

“After hearing an appeal the court must give judgment without regard to errors or defects which do not affect the substantial rights of the parties. If error has been committed, it shall not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice. The court must be satisfied that it has that effect before it is warranted in reversing the judgment.”

Numerous cases have been decided under these statutes and in all cases a substantial prejudice to the rights of the defendant is required to justify a reversal of the judgment. It is respectfully submitted that if there were any errors committed in the trial of this lawsuit that those errors were harmless and under the foregoing statutes affirmance by this Court is necessary.

CONCLUSION

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